IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA SEP 5 1989

DONNIE GENE CRAIG,)
Appellant,)
vs.)
STATE OF FLORIDA,)
Appellee.)
)

OLERK, SUPPREME COURT

SID J. WHITE

CASE NO. 72,591

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE NINETEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR OKEECHOBEE COUNTY, FLORIDA HONORABLE WILLIAM L. HENDRY, JUDGE

> MICHAEL L. SULLIVAN Florida Bar No. 214345 309 N.W. Fourth Street Okeechobee, FL 34972 (813) 763-9460

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On March 31, 1987, Shirley Johnson, a waitress at а local Okeechobee City restaurant, became concerned that а regular customer, Clifton Ellis, did not arrive as usual for breakfast (R-498, V-3). After calling a few people and making a visit to Mr. Ellis' residence with no answer, at around 10:30 a.m. Ms. Johnson reported Mr. Ellis missing to the Okeechobee Sheriff's Department (R-501, V-3). In response Deputy Sheriff Eddie Bishop of the Okeechobee Sheriff's Department made checks of the residence by knocking at the door and attempting to look through the windows (R-523, V-3). Nothing unusual was noticed by the deputy. Later that day, around 2:30 p.m., at the urging of Shirley Johnson, Jack Dietz, a part-time tenant of Mr. Ellis, and actually renting a room of the residence, entered Mr. Ellis' bedroom and found what was later identified as Mr. Ellis on the floor by the bed covered with blankets (R-533, V-3). Mr. Dietz reported last seeing Mr. Ellis on March 30, 1987, at approximately 4:00 p.m. at which time he had paid his rent (R-529, V-3). Additionally. that same evening Mr. Dietz testified that he had left the residence and had noticed Mr. Ellis' auto was parked in the garage.

The medical examiner testified the body of Mr. Ellis revealed bruises to the side of his head, his lip, left arm and dorsal aspect of the hand. The bruise to the side of the

head was considered to be inconsequential (R-1237, V-8). In addition, there were several slash wounds on his left side, as well as what were characterized as defensive wounds on Mr. Ellis' left arm (R-40). The medical examiner determined the cause of death to be a stab wound to the neck and front of the neck (R-1242).

The scene was processed in the main by Detective Sergeant George Miller of the Okeechobee Sheriff's Department who testified that when he entered the bedroom of Mr. Ellis he found the mattress slid partially off the bed and the bedcovers on the floor. Mr. Ellis' body was hidden by the bedcovering with only his feet and legs visible. There was a considerable amount of blood on the floor and particularly in the area of the body. Next to the head of Mr. Ellis was found a single bladed knife (R-564, V-3). Laying on the floor was a blue song book. On the cover of the song book was a partial impression of a shoe print marked in what appeared to be blood. Other observations included a damp towel at the foot of the bed. Also, the telephone line had been cut to the phone next to the bed. Mr. Ellis' wallet was found laying on a chair partly open. No money was in the wallet but personal identification and effects, including photographs, were intact. There was no testimony offered that any money had been taken.

Under Mr. Ellis' body two (2) unfired .25 caliber bullets were found (R-594). The search for latent prints in

the residence produced no identifiable impressions.

A blue 1977 Oldsmobile identified as belonging to Cliff Ellis through vehicle registration in the Okeechobee license collector's office was found between 4:30 and 5:00 p.m. March 31, 1987, in the parking lot of a local tavern (R-771). The officer's processing of the blue Oldsmobile recovered a partial latent located in the upper right hand corner of the interior rear view mirror (R-1042, V-7). This latent was subsequently identified as matching the right palm under the ring and middle finger of Appellant Donnie Craig (R-1063). No time period could be established at trial as to the age of the latent impression (R-1074).

Testimony from an expert in bloodstain interpretation was that Mr. Ellis was seated on the bed during the initial bleeding. The medical examiner testified that Mr. Ellis had bruise to the side of his head as well his lip, left arm, а and the dorsal aspect of the hand (R-1237, V-8). Also, there were several slash wounds on Mr. Ellis' left side including defensive wounds of the left arm (R-1240, V-8). The medical examiner found the cause of death to be a stab wound to the neck at the front of the neck. (R-1241, V-8). Additionally, the medical examiner testified that Mr. Ellis would have remained conscious for approximately five minutes and would have been brain dead in approximately ten minutes (R-1242). Testimony of trial witnesses Nathaniel Brice (R-376) and

З

Laura Mayo (R-92) identified Appellant as arriving at their apartment in West Palm Beach during the evening hours of March 31. 1987. Both witnesses testified as to the Appellant's use of rock cocaine. Laura Mayo testified that Appellant had been to their apartment before and had used rock cocaine on those occasions as well. The State elicited further testimony from Laura Mayo that, while the Appellant was smoking rock cocaine, she and a friend of hers by the name of Wally had searched the automobile driven by Appellant. Laura Mayo testified she saw insurance papers and at trial identified a checkbook belonging to Mr. Ellis as one of the items she had seen in the car. Laura Mayo also identified, as similar, an expended .25 caliber cartridge which she stated she had found in the front and had thrown into the back seat. In addition, Ms. Mayo testified that there was also in the glove compartment a pistol and bullets (R-896). At trial she identified the pistol as similar to the one she had seen that evening. Ms. Mayo further testified that she had last seen Appellant while he was making a telephone call at a pay phone outside the apartment building. The State produced testimony that the number of this pay phone appeared on the telephone bill of Dolores Andrews as a collect call on March 31, 1987, at 1:30 in the morning. Dolores Andrews testified she had received collect calls in the past from Appellant but did not remember this specific call. Trial witness Nathaniel Brice testified that

Appellant brought up a purple Royal Crown bag which contained а .25 caliber pistol. Brice testified that the next day he sold this pistol to a person by the name of Jamaica Red. Jamaica Red was identified by trial testimony as Oswald Jones (R-883). An officer acting on an unrelated warrant arrested Oswald Jones and a female companion (R-1013). At the time of the arrest the officer recovered a .25 caliber pistol which was identified at trial as the pistol sold to Mr. Clifton Ellis by Mike O'Conner, a local gun shop owner in Okeechobee, Florida (R-753). During trial a ballistics expert matched the expended cartridges recovered March 31, 1987, from 206 30th Street, West Palm Beach, Florida, as being fired from the pistol identified as having been sold to Mr. Ellis.

the time of Appellant's arrest officers seized At a pair of Reebok tennis shoes. These shoes were compared with the partial shoe impression left on the song book cover. At trial Detective Sergeant George Miller testified that the partial shoe print impression left on the song book cover was made by the right shoe taken from Appellant's residence at the time of his arrest on April 13, 1987 (R-1164). Although Appellant was a suspect in the murder of Mr. Ellis he was arrested on outstanding warrants for violation of probation. Appellant was initially taken to the Okeechobee Police station where he was questioned by Detectives Dale Laflam and Sr. Detective Eugene O'Neill. At trial O'Neill testified

that Appellant made the following statement:

A : "Okay, Mr. Craig had stated he had been back in Okeechobee since around the 16th of March, that he'd been staying with Dolores Andrews until about the 24th or 26th and that he then returned home to his parents' house. That he was currently working at the Flying G Dairy and had been there for about three weeks. That it had been about a month and half since he had last saw Cliff Ellis and that he had never driven Cliff's car but that he had been in the car approximately a hear and a half ago. He advised that the shoes were his, that he had bought them about two months ago in West Palm Beach at Sears, that he had not loaned anyone his shoes. He advised that since being at the Flying G Ranch he had worked seven nights a week except for last Friday, March 10th, 1987. He also advised that prior to moving back to Okeechobee he was living and working in West Palm Beach. That he had worked for Villa Flora Catering, also known as Ralph and Julie Ann Incorporated, for three weeks and also at Christopher's Downtown, and that a restaurant in Palm Beach, for about two weeks and he denied any knowledge of the death of Cliff Ellis." (R-1281, V-7)

At trial the Appellant presented no evidence.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On April 13, 1987, at 2130 hours Appellant was arrested the charge of murder (R-1502, V-10). On April 14, 1987, on first appearance, Appellant was held on the charge of at murder with bond set at \$50,000.00. Appellant was then appointed an attorney in the office of the Public Defender (R-507, V-10). On April 24, 1987, Appellant, by and through his attorney, filed Declaration Declining Questioning in this matter as well as violation of probation case no. 87-110 and Copies of said Declaration Declining Questioning 84-240. were furnished to the office of the State Attorney, the Okeechobee County Sheriff's Department and the Okeechobee City Police (R-1509, V-10). On April 29, 1987, the Grand Jury returned an indictment for First Degree Murder against Appellant (R-1510). On May 5, 1987, the State filed motion for blood and hair samples (R-1513, 1514). On May 13, 1987. the State filed amended motion to compel defendant to submit to physical test or examination and amended motion for blood and hair samples (R-1517, 1518). On May 15, 1987, the court granted the State's motion and entered orders accordingly (R-1519, 1520). On May 19, 1987, Appellant filed motion to stay taking of hair, blood and physical test examination (R-1521), 1522). That on May 19, 1987, the State and Appellant agreed upon an order staying the State's amended motion for physical test or examination and Appellant's consent to State's amended motion for blood and hair samples (R-1523). On May

27. 1987. Appellant filed motion for appointment of expert (R-1524) which was later granted on June 25, 1987 (R-1531). On May 29, 1987, Appellant filed a motion for rehearing on State's amended motion to compel defendant to submit to physical test and/or examination. On May 13, 1987, the State filed notice of intent to use similar fact evidence and notice of intent to seek death penalty (R-1555, 1556, 1557). On January 26, 1988, Appellant filed motion for appointment of expert which was later granted (R-1592). On January 26, 1988, Appellant filed motion to suppress line-up, show-up, photograph, other pre-trial confrontation and courtroom identification, all of which was later denied as to the witnesses (R-1594, 1595). On January 26, 1988, Appellant filed motions to suppress defendant's confession, admission and statements which was later denied (R-1596, 1597). On February 9, 1988, Appellant filed motion for production of favorable evidence which was denied, but State advised of ongoing duty to disclose (R-1600). On February 9, 1988, appellant filed motion for statement of particulars which was denied (R-1602, 1603, 1604). On February 11, 1988, Appellant filed motion to sequester jury during trial which was later denied. On February 15, 1988, Appellant filed motion to exclude similar fact evidence which was later denied (R-On February 15, 1988, Appellant filed motion to 1609). declare death penalty, F.S. Section 92.141, unconstitutional

which was later denied (R-1611, 1612). On February 18, 1988, Appellant filed motion for statement of particulars which was denied with leave to move again with good cause and case authority (R-1613). On February 25, 1988, Appellant filed motion to suppress evidence obtained through unreasonable search and seizure which was later denied (R-1619, 1620. On March 2, 1988, Appellant filed motion 1621). for appointment of expert in fingerprint and shoe print identification which was granted (R-1622, 1623, 1624). On March 4, 1988, the trial court denied Appellant's motion for additional funds to hire expert for jury selection (R-1625, 1625A-1625N). On April 29, 1988, the State filed amendment and addition to notice of intent to use similar fact evidence On May 4, 1988, the Appellant filed (R-1730, 1731). disclosure pursuant to FRCrP 3.220(b) (R-1732). On May 10, 1988, trial began in this matter by selection of the jury. After jury selection and submission of evidence, the jury rendered verdict on May 19, 1988, finding Appellant guilty of felony murder robbery in the first degree (R-1851). On May advisory sentence 27. the jury rendered an 1988. recommendation of life imprisonment (R-1855). May 27, 1988. the court acting on findings of fact (R-1860-1863) sentenced Appellant to death (R-1856-1859). On May 31, 1988, Appellant filed motion for judgment of acquittal, or, in the alternative, new trial (R-1864-1870). On June 1, 1988, Appellant filed specific objections to findings of fact (R-

1871-1875). On June 1, 1988, the court filed amended findings of fact (R-1876-1879). On June 13, 1988, Appellant filed timely notice of appeal (R-1880).

SUMMARY OF CASE

POINT I

Appellant charged in a single count indictment with capital murder was prejudiced and failed to receive an impartial trial when the State introduced evidence of other crimes. Specifically, the State introduced evidence of Appellant's use of rock cocaine and trading property for cocaine. Introduced, but also irrelevant to Appellant's charges, was evidence of assaultive behavior and violence through the introduction of shell casings recovered from an address in West Palm Beach that had no bearing or materiality to the charge of capital murder.

The evidence of other crimes by Appellant was not necessary to the State's case and did not touch on any of the elements of the charged crime. The combination of the drug use and of violence with a firearm severely prejudiced Appellant casting him as a law breaker and thus the propensity to commit the crimes charged. Reviewing the evidence, pursuant to <u>State v. DiGuilio</u>, finds evidence against the Appellant insufficient and the State will not be able to meet their burden that the complained of evidence was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

POINT II

On single count of capital murder the evidence at trial

failed to show premeditation. The testimony and evidence presented an ambiguous scene of death which in and of itself was insufficient for evidence supporting premeditation. The wounds of Mr. Ellis fell short of showing a fully formed conscious purpose to kill or the existence in the mind of the perpetrator for a sufficient length of time to permit reflection. With no eyewitnesses or other statements describing the circumstances of Mr. Ellis' death the scene itself lends itself to several scenarios, none of which the fully formed conscious intent, establish coolly deliberated, necessary for capital murder.

POINT III

Arrest of Appellant on charge of technical violations of probation not including new crimes was pretextual and done solely for the purpose of obtaining a custodial statement from Appellant concerning an unrelated charge. The Appellant into custody, suggested leniency, and in this was taken atmosphere was questioned regarding the death of Mr. Ellis. Although advising Appellant of his rights the officer altered the rights waiver form changing the statement of "any statement can be used against you in court" to "may". This lends support to Appellant's claim of promise of leniency and his understanding that statements given on violation of probation would not be used against him on charge of murder. Appellant's refusal to make statement after being arrested

for murder supports this testimony. In short, Appellant's pretectual arrest for technical violations of probation and questioning Appellant on murder charges did deprive Appellant of his ability to make an intelligent and rational waiver of rights.

POINT IV

Appellant was arrested for technical violations of probation not involving commission of additional crimes. The arrest took place at his father's home, and Appellant was in bed at the time of the officer's arrival. Though the arrest for violation of probation the detective for was the Sheriff's Department, in effecting the arrest, seized This arrest was in effect pretextual Appellant's shoes. because it was made for the purpose of investigating Appellant and collecting evidence for the murder charge. Although the detective testified to a similarity in the sole patterns of Appellant's shoes to the imprint of a tennis shoe left at the scene of Mr. Ellis' death, his initial taking of Appellant's shoes was without probable cause or any reasonable suspicion.

POINT V

The trial Court erred in not granting Appellant's motion for statement of particulars as to date, time and place of the offense. In denying Appellant's motion for

statement of particulars the Court and State relied on the indictment as sufficient to inform Appellant. In addition, the Court imposed a good cause burden on Appellant to obtain the statement of particulars. At trial the State proved the date of the offense different than that in the indictment. In addition, three different addresses were given as the residence of Mr. Ellis. With the uncertain date and place of occurrence Appellant was severely prejudiced and unable to adequately prepare.

POINT VI

At trial Appellant was prejudiced by the State's late production of witnesses and documents. Two days into the trial the State listed as additional witnesses two West Palm Beach police officers. One of the officer's reports later used in trial was a document which defense counsel did not receive until the afternoon of the officer's testimony. Contrary to the rules of discovery the State additionally used a photograph and a certified vehicle registration to establish elements and identity. Waiting until two days into trial to disclose important corroborative evidence violates the trial Court's order on pretrial conferences and the Florida Rules of Discovery 3.220. In addition, it was a denial of Appellant's right to due process and effective assistance of counsel. The burden is on the State to show there is no prejudice to the Appellant. <u>Hill v. State</u>, 406

So. 2d 801 (Fla. 1981).

POINT VII

At penalty phase the State produced no additional The Appellant witnesses relying on the trial evidence. presented witnesses consisting of his mother and father, a and a school psychologist. The friend. jury. after deliberation, returned an advisory opinion of life imprisonment without parole for twenty-five years. The finding of the aggravated circumstance of commission of a felony during a capital offense is not a proper aggravated circumstance in this matter since it fails to be а circumstance which sets it apart from other capital offenses. Use of the underlying felony in this matter allows the felony to supply proof of first degree murder and at the same time become an aggravating circumstance. This violates State v. Dixon and Furman v. Georgia. The circumstance of especially cold-blooded and heinous is not clearly established beyond a reasonable doubt and, even so, was not a sufficient aggravating circumstance to warrant jury override. Hansbrough v. State and Nibert v. State.

POINT I

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED AND ABUSED ITS DISCRETION IN ALLOWING EVIDENCE OF OTHER CRIMES

On August 13, 1987, the State filed notice of intent to use similar fact evidence (R-1555-1556). On April 29, 1988, the State filed an amendment and addition to notice of intent to use similar fact evidence (R-1730, 1731). At trial, over Appellant's objection, the State produced the following as so-called similar fact evidence:

A. Appellant's Use of Rock Cocaine

1. "...and he was looking to buy some rock" (R-911, L-25 to R-912, L-2)

2. "Yes, she drove it and was going to get some rock." (R-913, L-25)

3. "...and we were smoking it, we smoked the rock..."(R-915, L-9)

4. "...he had her to get more rock...and we smoked that too." (R-915, L-12)

5. "...because it was me, him and her smoking..." (R-916, L-9)

 "...and him and Cheri split the other dime" (R-919, L-8).

7. "Q What was Baby Face doing at the apartment? A Getting high."

B. Evidence of Stolen Property and Trading Property

for Drugs

1. "...he wanted to know if we take a watch...then
he...pulled another watch out." (R-916)

2. "...Yes, and then he pulled out another one out of his pocket." (R-918, L-11)

3. "I gave it to Nat and got the rock and come back and he gave me a dime and him and Cheri split the other dime."

C. Evidence of Stolen Property

1. "...It was a Lucien Picard 14 karat gold and it had diamonds in the top of it and it had a ruby stem and all of it was... all the rest was solid 14 karat gold." (R-918, L-23-25)

D. Evidence of Assault With a Firearm

Introduction of three shell casings recovered
 March 31, 1987, from 206 30th Street, West Palm
 Beach (R-1033, L-12 through R-1034, L-3).

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