IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

591 CASE NO. 72,951

DONNIE GENE CRAIG,

Appellant,

vs.

STATE OF FLORIDA

Appellee,



JAN 24 1990



ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

CAROL COBOURN ASBURY
Assistant Attorney General
111 Georgia Avenue, Suite 204
West Palm Beach, Florida
(407) 837-5062
Florida Bar Number 393665

Counsel for Petitioner

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

The trial court noted that the Appellant was not a newcomer to the criminal justice system inasmuch as he was on
probation at the time of this particular incident. This is
not the Appellant's first brush with the law. He does have
some familiarity with the criminal justice system.
Furthermore the testimony supports the fact that he was
appraised of his Miranda Warnings. The trial court then
denied the motion to suppress.

Appellant notes that there was some minor change in the Miranda rights form which the Appellant signed. This is not part of the record. Nor is it mentioned in the record or a part of any objection by the Appellant. This is the first

time Appellee is made aware of any change. The rights waiver form is not a part of the record so the truth of this statement cannot be verified.

Second, Appellant claims that Detective O'Neill denied making any promises of leniency at trial but in a late statement retracted that statement. (AB 30). Appellant then cites to evidence not in the record but relating to another trial. This allegation by the Appellant is completely bogus in that he admits that Detective O'Neill testified that no promises were made to the Appellant. Citing to something not in the record is not prove of anything. Appellant should not be allowed to make blanket allegations in order to bog this Court down in endless supplements of records which are not pertinent to this trial. Furthermore, the record cites that the Appellant refers to does not support this blanket allegation. Detective O'Neill consistently maintains that no threats and no promises were made to the Appellant.

The fact that the Appellant later refused to make a taped statement does not invalidate his previous statement. Defendants are free to invoke their right to counsel at any time. Further a voluntary and intelligent waiver does not depend on whether or not the Appellant knows that he is being charged with a crime. Appellant knows how the criminal justice system works. He was advised that the police wanted to talk to him about the death of Clifton Ellis, that he was a suspect in the case, and that anything he says could be used against him.

The courts have never embraced the theory that a defendant's ignorance of the full consequences of his decisions vitiates the voluntary nature of the confession.

Oregon v. Elstad, 470 U.S. 298, 105 S.Ct. 1285, 1297, 84

L.Ed. 2d 222 (1985). Thus, where the record reveals evidence to support the trial court's findings, the reviewing court must accept these findings. State v. Spurling, 385 So.2d 672 (Fla. 2nd DCA, 1985). Here there was ample evidence to support the trial court's order denying the motion to suppress.

POINT IV

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN DENYING APPELLANT'S MOTION TO SUPPRESS EVIDENCE.

When a police officer lawfully arrests a suspect he may, for the dual purposes of protection and preventing the destruction of evidence, conduct an incidental search of the suspect and the area within the suspect's immediate control, and seize any incriminating evidence. Gustafson v. Florida, 414 U.S. 260 (1973); United States v. Robinson, 414 U.S. 218 (1973); Newton v. State, 378 So.2d 297 (Fla. 4th DCA 1979). This will be so regardless of whether the arrest was undertaken pursuant to a warrant. See Range v. State, 156 So.2d 534 (Fla. 2d DCA 1963).

Under the rule of Chimel v. California, 395 U.S. 752 (1969), an officer is not allowed to search any other areas of the premises except the limited area in which the defendant was arrested. There may, however, be circumstances justifying an officer's visit to other areas to merely observe. For example, an officer, for his own protection, may look in other rooms to search for other persons. Also, he may find it necessary to go through other rooms in leaving the premises. These movements of the law enforcement officer are not considered searches because the officer is not looking for weapons or incriminating evidence. Nevertheless, if an officer observes such evidence lying open to view, he may seize it, and it will be admissible in court under the "plain view" or "open view" doctrines.

In the instant case Detective Eugene O'Neill was the lead detective in the investigation of Clifton Ellis' death. He arrest the Appellant at Appellant's house. (R 11). At the time the police went to the Appellant's house the Appellant was a suspect in the murder of Ellis. A fingerprint that had been found on the rearview mirror of Ellis' car had been identified as belonging to the Appellant. (R 18,19).

As Appellant was getting dressed Officer LaFlam was standing at the bedroom door. Officer LaFlam was well aware of the type of shoe impression that the police were trying to Detective Miller had shown Officer LaFlam the type of shoe track or print that was left at the scene of Ellis' murder. (R 29). As the Appellant was getting dressed he asked for his shoes from his mother. His mother had just washed the shoes. The fact that the shoes were wet aroused the suspicions of Officer LaFlam. (R 33). The Appellant's mother handed the shoes to Officer LaFlam in order to hand them to the Appellant. No objections were made. Officer LaFlam turned the shoes over and saw the familiar track marks or impression. (R 33). Officer LaFlam explained to the Appellant that he was going to hold onto the shoes as possible evidence. The Appellant said okay. (R 29). When LaFlam was given the shoes by Appellant's mother, and after viewing the soles he showed the shoes to Detective O'Neill. (R 12).

Both Detective O'Neill and Officer LaFlam testified that

the shoes were handed to LaFlam by the Appellant's mother.

(R 20). The shoes were seized because the pattern on the soles were similar to the pattern of the shoe impression left at the scene of the murder.

In <u>United States v. Titus</u>, 445 F.2d 577 (2d Cir. 1971), cert. denied, 404 U.S. 940 (1971), the defendant was arrested in his girl friend's apartment regarding a bank robbery. At the time of the arrest, the apartment was dark and the defendant was nude. One of the officers went to get clothing for the defendant and found two jackets of the type that had been described as having been worn by the bank robbers. On the way out of the apartment, one of the officers turned on the kitchen light so he could see his way. On the floor was money from the robbery. The court held that both jackets and the money were admissible in evidence. All the items were properly seized under the "plain view" doctrine.

In this case the shoes were also properly seized under the plain view doctrine. The shoes were handed to the police officer who recognized the pattern on the soles of the shoes. The shoes were not found as part of any search conducted by the police officers. The officers had a right to be where they were due to the arrest warrant. Furthermore, the officers knew that they were looking for a shoe that would match the impression found in Ellis' room. The shoes were not seized due to idle curiosity. They were seized because they soles of the shoes matched the impression found at the victim's house. The shoes were properly admitted into

evidence. The trial court did not err in denying the Appellant's motion to suppress. The Appellant's conviction and sentence should be affirmed.

POINT V

TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN DENYING APPELLANT'S MOTION FOR STATEMENT OF PARTICULARS.

When the indictment or information upon which a defendant fails to inform the defendant of the particulars of the offense sufficiently to enable him to prepare his defense the defendant may motion the court for a statement of particulars. Fla.R.Crim.P. 3.140(n). Where variance between the allegations in an information and proof is not such as to have misled defendant or subject him to substantial possibility of reprosecution for the same offense, the variance is immaterial and does not preclude conviction. A variance in an information is fatal only if the record reveals a possibility that the defendant may have been misled or embarrassed in the preparation or presentation of his defense. Grissom v. State, 405 So.2d 291 (Fla. 1st DCA 1981) "Variance" between indictment and proof at trial occurs when evidence at trial proves facts different from those alleged in indictment, as opposed to facts which, although not specifically mentioned in indictment are entirely consistent with its allegation. U.S. v. Caporale, 806 F.2d 1487 (C.A. 11th Cir. 1987).

In the instant case the indictment did state that the death of Clifton Ellis occurred on March 31, 1987. Whereas the evidence adduced at trial indicate that he probably was killed on March 30, 1987. However this variance is not so great as to prejudice the Appellant and it would not subject

him to reprosecution. Further, it is clear that he was not misled and prejudiced in his defense.

Appellant knew the victim, Clifton Ellis. So he knows whose death he is charged with. From the deposition of Deitz, the railroad man, the defense attorney knew that the body was discovered on March 31, 1987. Appellant also knew that Deitz came to Ellis' house on March 31, 1987 at 7:30 A.M. and that Ellis' car was not there. (R 1565,1569,1670). Appellant also knew that Detective Sergeant was called to the scene of the murder on March 31st. (R 1683). These were made on July 27th and 20th respectively. The depositions of Detective Eugene F. O'Neill (R 1735-1805) given on July 20, 1987, Charles Edel (R 18061830) given on April 12, 1988, Dr. Leonard Walker (R 1831-1850) given on February 16, 1988 and Laura Mayo (R 1892-1925) given on May 16, 1988 all reveal that the Appellant was apprised of all the facts of this case. All of these people testified in their depostions to essentially the same facts as they did at trial. Based on Appellant's questioning at trial and in the depositions he knew that the sequence of events ran from March 30th to March 31st. In additions there were other motions and pretrial hearings which informed Appellant of the evidence against him. Appellant was not surprised or ambushed at trial by any of the evidenced adduced against him nor was he prevented in preparing his defense.

The indictment in this case gave the Appellant adequate notice of the charge he is expected to meet. The granting of

a bill of particulars in a criminal case is not founded upon a legal right but is a matter resting within the sound discretion of the trial court, and depends entirely upon the nature and circumstances of each particular case. The trial court did not err in denying Appellant's motion for a bill of particulars seeking date, time and place of alleged offense where the place and date were stated in the indictment and the exact time was not known. Winslow v. State 45 So.2d 339 (Fla. 1949); Williams v. State, 344 So.2d 927 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1977).

Based on the foregoing arguments the Appellants conviction and sentence should be affirmed.

POINT VI

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN ALLOWING TESTIMONY OF THE WITNESSES AND INTRODUCTION OF DOCUMENTS NOT VIOLATIVE OF DISCOVERY F.R.CRIM.P. 3.220

According to Richardson v. State, 246 So. 2d 771 (Fla. 1971), a trial court's inquiry into the circumstances surrounding a violation of a discovery rule should, at least, cover such questions as whether the violation was inadvertent or willful, whether the violation was trivial or substantial, and whether the violation caused any prejudice or harm to the other party. A Richardson inquiry is designed to ferret out procedural prejudice occasioned by a party's discovery violation. In ascertaining whether this type of prejudice exists in a given case, a trial court must be cognizant of two separate but interrelated aspects. First, the judge must decide whether the discovery violation prevented the aggrieved party from properly preparing for trial. Second, the judge must determine the appropriate sanction to invoke for the violation. Wilcox v. State, 367 So.2d 1020 (Fla. 1979); <u>Desjardins v. State</u>, 507 So.2d 733 (Fla. 4th DCA 1987).

Although it is within a trial court's discretion to order exclusion of a witness as a sanction for violation of a discovery order, the courts have consistently found exclusion to be an extreme remedy which should be invoked only under the most compelling circumstances, and only after the trial court has conducted an adequate inquiry to determine whether

any other reasonable alternatives might be used to overcome or mitigate possible prejudice. Wikerson v. State, 461 So.2d 1376 (Fla. 1st DCA 1985). Moreover, the discovery violation inquiry contains enormous flexibility by providing a full panoply of remedies which a judge may apply if a discovery violation has occurred, including, if the evidence warrants, finding no prejudice or "harmless error" and proceeding with the trial.

The first discovery violation claimed by the Appellant has to do with the testimony of Officer James Wilburn of the West Palm Beach Police Department. Appellant objected to Officer Wilburn's testimony on the basis that his testimony was not relevant and that he was not on the witness list. (R 1024). Officer Wilburn testified as to the three spent shells that were found in the West Palm Beach house that came from the victim's pistol which the Appellant traded later that evening. Appellant concedes that he did have the police report of Officer Wilburn and, therefore, he knew the contents of Officer Wilburn's testimony. Furthermore there were numerous Similar Fact Evidence Hearings which discussed the crime that occurred in West Palm Beach with this pistol. The Appellant knew that the events were intertwined and knew that the State sought to introduce that three spent shells discovered at the residence in West Palm Beach to establish motive and intent in taking the pistol and the show the chain of events. (R 1026,1029). The defense counsel would not answer the trial court as to whether or not the Appellant had been furnished with the three spent shells. Consequently, the trial court denied the Appellant's objection to Wilburn's testimony. Based on the Appellant's own confession it can hardly be said the he was prejudiced in his defense, or caught unawares by Wilburn's testimony. In fact, the Appellant benefited from the erroneous ruling of the trial court in refusing to allow into evidence the second murder at the West Palm Beach residence as part of the res gestae. Clearly the two deaths were intertwined. Nevertheless, the Appellant was not prevented from properly preparing for trial. Any violation was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

Defense counsel also objected to Officer McMillan's testimony because Officer McMillan was not on the witness list and that the officer's report on the recovering of the gun was not disclosed by the State. As conceded by the Appellant, the State did not have McMillan's police report and did not even know of its existence until the day it disclosed such to Appellant. The State pointed out to the trial court that there were at least two other reports in the file given Appellant, one by McMillan's co-officers detailing what happened and a summary report by Sgt. Perez in his overall report detailing Officer McMillan's testimony. Consequently, the information was received by the Appellant. (R 844-847).

In addition, the trial court gave Appellant time to talk to McMillan and to review the report. (R 855, 847). In view of the court's dislike for barring pertinent witness'

testimony this was a reasonable alternative to mitigate any prejudice to the Appellant. However, State maintains that there was no prejudice to the Appellant since he already had the information. Any error was clearly harmless.

The same is true of the photographic identification of Oswald Jones. The State did not have a photograph of Oswald Jones and did not know that one existed. When the State had the photo it advised defense counsel of its intention to use the photograph for identification purposes. The testimony of Nathanial Brice and Officer McMillan as it relates to Oswald Jones would have been the same with or without the photograph. No error inured to the Appellant and any error was clearly harmless. The photograph was not even published to the jury.

Finally, the Appellant complains, as he did at trial, that the vehicle registration form submitted into evidence to prove the ownership of the victim's car was a discovery violation. Appellant claims that he was prevented from preparing his case adequately because he did not know about the vehicle registration form before the trial although he did know all about the car and had the information months before the trial.

The ownership of the vehicle in question has never been in dispute. Everything that was ever known about the car was given to the Appellant. In addition, the Appellant reviewed the FCIC signal teletype in Deputy O'Neill's notes in response to a subpeona duces tecum which contained all of the

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